FILED 01-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2023AP1224

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

## ROXANNE RAE REICHERT,

 $Defendant ext{-}Appellant.$ 

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County The Honorable Jennifer Dorow Presiding Case No. 2017CT1573

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, ROXANNE R. REICHERT

BRADLEY W. NOVRESKE

State Bar No. 1106967

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

KUCHLER & COTTON, S.C.

1535 E. Racine Ave. Waukesha, WI 53186

T: (262) 542-4218 F: (262) 542-1993

brad@kuchlercotton.com

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

#### Α.

Did Officer Solberg have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to stop Ms. Reichert despite observing no traffic infractions?

The trail court answered: Yes.

This court should answer: No.

В.

Was Officer Solberg's seizure of Ms. Reichert justified by the Community Caretaker exception to the warrant requirement?

The trial court answered: Yes.

This court should answer: No.

C.

Did Officer Solberg unreasonably extend the traffic stop to investigate Ms. Reichert for driving under the influence?

The trial court answered: **No.** 

This court should answer: Yes.

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 6 of 24

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Ms. Reichert welcomes the opportunity for oral argument to the extent necessary to clarify any of the issues before the court. This appeal addresses well-settled principles of law and publication is only requested to the extent that the Court's guidance might further clarify this area of law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Factual Background.

On November 26, 2021, Ms. Reichert got off work, had lunch at a local restaurant, and went to grab a drink with a friend. While she was working, Mr. Reichert's then-boyfriend, Scott<sup>1</sup>, kept "blowing up her phone and trying to contact her" because the couple had been having issues recently due to Scott "acting strangely." (R. 21:2; A-App. []). While she was having a drink, Ms. Reichert received a phone call from Scott that upset her, and she left the tavern without finishing her drink so that she could return home to pick up her kids intending to take them to a safer place to stay. (*Id.*). When she got home, she loaded her children into her car and tried to leave. Scott got in his vehicle and parked it behind Ms. Reichert to prevent her from leaving, and would not move it to allow her to leave. Ms. Reichert resorted to doing a U-turn through the grass between her driveway and the neighboring driveway and began to drive away. Scott followed her in his vehicle, and Ms. Reichert believed that he was attempting to ram her with his car but that he was unable to make contact with her vehicle as she drove away. (Id.).

While this was unfolding, Waukesha County Dispatch received a 911 call from Ms. Reichert's neighbor – Scott's sister – who reported that the caller's neighbor was being chased by her boyfriend in a car and that the caller believed that the cars may have hit each other. The caller also reported that the male was in a silver Chevy Malibu and that the woman was in in a purple Honda Pilot, and that there was at least one juvenile in the Honda Pilot. (R. 21:1; A-App. []). One of the officers responding to

<sup>1</sup>Scott is a pseudonym as required by Wis. Stat. § 809.19(1)(g).

3

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 8 of 24

the call was Officer Solberg of the Waukesha Police Department. Officer Solberg testified that while he was on his way to the scene, he was informed that the driver of the silver Malibu (Scott) had called dispatch and was willing to return to the residence to meet with officers. Officer Solberg began attempting to locate the purple SUV. (R. 61:9, A-App. []). Officer Solberg testified that the information he had at the time was that there was a possible domestic incident which could involve injury, that there was some type of a threat of a gun involved, and that there was a possible crash that had occurred with a child in the vehicle. Based on this information, his goal was "first and foremost to check the well-being of the individuals involved in the call." (*Id.*).

While driving in the area that he believed the vehicles were heading, Officer Solberg observed what appeared to be a dark colored SUV. He suspected that the SUV might be the correct vehicle based on when and where he observed it, and he began to follow it. He was eventually able to determine that it was a purple Honda Pilot. (*Id.* at 15). Officer Solberg did not have a plate number for the vehicle believed to be involved in the domestic disturbance and did not know whether the registered owner of the vehicle was a man or a woman despite running the plates. He did not observe any obvious damage on the vehicle that would indicate it had been in a collision. (*Id.* at 33; A-App. []). He was unable to determine prior to initiating the traffic stop whether the driver was a man or a woman, the number of passengers, or whether there were minor passengers.(*Id.* at 35-36; A-App. []).

Officer Solberg followed the purple Honda Pilot for approximately three minutes before activating his emergency lights to perform a traffic stop on the vehicle. (*Id.* at 33-34; A-App. []). He testified that he could

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 9 of 24

not recall whether he observed any traffic infractions during the three minutes that he followed the vehicle. (*Id.*) Officer Solberg conceded that he did not note any traffic infractions in his report and that including such details in his report "is the goal." (*Id.* at 40-41; A-App. []).

Officer Solberg testified that his main focus in initiating the traffic stop was to investigate the domestic incident and potential hit and run. (*Id.* at 34; A-App. []). After stopping the purple Pilot, Officer Solberg approached the vehicle and made contact with Ms. Reichert. After identifying himself as law enforcement, he asked whether she had been in a domestic altercation with her boyfriend and whether she and the children were okay or needed an ambulance. (*Id.* at 18; A-App. []). Officer Solberg was able to determine that there were no safety or other health concerns "within a minute" and, within a couple of minutes, had achieved his goal of figuring out if anyone was in need of assistance. (*Id.* at 36-37; A-App. []). At this point, he began investigating the details of the domestic incident.

Ms. Reichert was asked to exit her vehicle and talk with Offer Solberg on the sidewalk. Ms. Reichert explained to Officer Solberg that she had been having issues with Scott recently, that she went for lunch followed by drinks that day after work, and that she returned home after receiving an upsetting call from Scott. She shared the details of the altercation at the house. Officer Solberg's report indicated that during his conversation with Ms. Reichert, he was unable to smell any odor of intoxicants coming from her and that her speech was "very slightly slow" but that there was no slurred speech.

After Ms. Reichert shared the details of the altercation, Officer Solberg spoke by phone to Officer Lincoln who had remained at the Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 10 of 24

original scene to speak with Scott. That call took place approximately 27 minutes after Ms. Reichert was stopped. On that call, Officer Solberg told Officer Lincoln that there was no domestic incident that was physical and did not indicate having any concerns about Ms. Reichert being impaired. (*Id.* at 42-43; A-App. []). Officer Lincoln told Officer Solberg that Scott's version of events was that Ms. Reichert was impaired and that he was blocking her vehicle in order to try to stop her from driving while intoxicated with the kids. (*Id.* at 24; A-App. []). Officer Solberg responded "I'll probably put her through field sobriety tests before we let her go to make sure she's fine when she drives away." (*Id.* at 43; A-App. []). At this point, Officer Solberg first began investigating Ms. Reichert for possibly driving while under the influence—27 minutes into the traffic stop and after determining that there were no health or safety concerns that needed attention and that there had not been a domestic incident that rose to the level of an arrest.

Officer Solberg testified that he could not be sure that he would have conducted any field sobriety tests that evening had he not been informed of Scott's allegations, and that the allegations were "a significant or important factor" in conducting the field sobriety tests. (*Id.* at 44; A-App. []). Officer Solberg informed Ms. Reichert what Scott said, and Ms. Reichert denied that the altercation had anything to do with her driving. (*Id.*) He testified that his purposes for the investigation were, first, to check up on everyone's wellbeing; second, to investigate the possible domestic incident; third, to investigate the report of crash hit and run, and "then, it turned into number four, the OWI." (*Id.* at 46; A-App. []).

Eventually, Ms. Reichert was moved to the interior of a nearby gas

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 11 of 24

station to perform field sobriety tests. Based on her performance, she was asked to provide a breath sample and ultimately was arrested. Her blood test indicated that she had a blood alcohol concentration of 0.105.

#### II. Procedural History.

Ms. Reichert was charged on November 29, 2021 with OWI First Offense with a minor child in the vehicle. Ms. Reichert filed her motion to suppress on March 23, 2022. The motion was heard on June 22, 2022 and November 30, 2022, and ultimately denied in an oral decision.

The trial court's oral decision recited the facts as follows:

We know that Officer Solberg was dispatched in emergency fashion to what he described, and what I would generally describe, as information concerning a possible domesticrelated incident and a hit and run where subjects who were involved are seen fleeing the scene. I will step back even one step further, or one step backwards, and say it's a 911 call from a concerned citizen. Something's going on at my neighbor's house, words to that effect. So we need to put this in perspective in what Officer Solberg had, or maybe even didn't have, when he's dispatched. He's dispatched. He proceeds with lights and siren. And we have the map, which is Exhibit 2. He's really in fairly close proximity and traveling toward the area that dispatch advised him a vehicle that was involved was traveling also in that direction. And, lo and behold, he comes across a very identifiable purple Honda Pilot. As he described it, and I have no reason to dispute it. A very unusual color, very distinctive. And he began following it. And, obviously, ultimately made the decision to perform a traffic stop.

(R. 61:62-63; A-App. []). The trial court held that the community caretaker function applied in this circumstance, comparing it to *State v*. *Brooks*, 2020 WI 60, 392 Wis. 2d 402, 944 N.W. 2d 832. The trial court concluded that there was an extension of the stop, but that it was a permissible extension:

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 12 of 24

Because the building blocks that I see here involve the driving. We know she was driving. We – it even involves the initial building blocks of the circumstances of the call. That includes people fleeing or leaving the scene. Why do people do that sometimes? One explanation could be consciousness of guilt; one could be fear. But again, police are not required to rule out innocent explanations. Their behavior and their conduct just simply needs to be reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. We have the admission of drinking. We have, again, the speech, thick and slow. That's how this officer described it. I've no reason to dispute what he's providing. He seems very credible here today. And we now have the added piece of information regarding the statements that are attributed to [Scott] that were relayed from the other officer to Officer Solberg.

These officers don't need to compartmentalize what they're doing. It's a very fluid situation. And at that point in time, Officer Solberg did what any reasonable officer would do. And he said, I'm going to put you through field sobriety tests. He did that based upon reasonable suspicion.

(R. 61:68-69). Ms. Reichert entered a guilty plea on May 19, 2023, and was sentenced to 5 days of jail with Huber privileges on May 23, 2023. That sentence was stayed pending the resolution of this appeal.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A party seeking suppression based on a Fourth Amendment violation presents a question of constitutional fact.  $State\ v.\ Brown$ , 2020 WI 63, ¶ 8, 392 Wis. 2d 454, 945 N.W. 2d 584. The Court of Appeals reviews the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. But the circuit court's application of the historical facts to constitutional principles is a question of law we review independently." Id.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. Officer Solberg lacked probable cause to stop Ms. Reichert's vehicle.

"Temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 808 (1996).

Ms. Reichert was stopped without probable cause or reasonable, articulable, personalized suspicion that she was breaking the law. In Wisconsin, an officer must have – at a minimum— reasonable suspicion that a motorist is committing a traffic or criminal violation in order to initiate a traffic stop. State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W. 2d 143. "An officer who lacks probable cause but whose observations lead him reasonably to suspect that a particular person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a violation may conduct a traffic stop in order to investigate the circumstances that provoke suspicion." Id. at ¶ 22 (cleaned up). Under both the federal and state constitutions, "law enforcement officers may only infringe on an individual's interest to be free of a stop and detention if they have a suspicion grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that the individual has committed a crime. State v. Harris, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 259, 557 N.W. 2d 245 (1996). It is worth emphasizing that the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that "a savvy hunch is not equivalent to the reasonable suspicion that would have justified a Terry-type temporary detention." County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 29, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W. 2d 253.

In this case, Officer Solberg did not have reasonable, articulable,

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 14 of 24

personalized suspicion that an occupant of the purple Honda Pilot "has committed, is committing, or is about to commit" a crime. Some of the factors the Wisconsin Supreme Court has weighed in determining the reasonableness of a traffic stop are "(1) the particularity of the description of the offender or the vehicle in which he fled; (2) the size of the area in which the offender might be found, as indicated by such facts as the elapsed time since the crime occurred; (3) the number of persons about in that area; (4) the known or probable direction of the offender's flight; (5) observed activity by the particular person stopped; and (6) knowledge or suspicion that the person or vehicle stopped has been involved in other criminality of the type presently under investigation." State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 677, 407 N.W. 2d 548 (1987).

In this case, Officer Solberg knew that someone involved in a possible domestic disturbance was driving a purple Honda Pilot. He knew that he was looking for a purple Honda Pilot which was driven by a woman with at least one minor child as a passenger. He knew that the vehicles were reportedly driving south on North University. He first observed the dark-colored SUV driving southbound on North University as he was approaching the intersection. At that point, he began to follow the dark-colored SUV and determined that it was a Honda Pilot. Officer Solberg did not observe much traffic in the area and did not see any other dark SUVs at that point in time. (R. 61:13-14; A-App. []). While he followed the vehicle for 3 minutes prior to performing a traffic stop, Officer Solberg did not learn any additional information relevant to the traffic stop — he did not determine who the registered owner of the vehicle was, he was unable to determine whether there were any passengers in the vehicle, he did not know whether the driver was a man

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 15 of 24

or a woman, and he observed no obvious indicia of damage from a collision.

Officer Solberg's belief that this particular dark-colored Honda Pilot was the purple Honda Pilot involved in the possible altercation was little more than a savvy hunch, and no additional investigative steps were conducted to determine whether it was the correct vehicle. Looking to the factors outlined in *Guzy*, the description of the vehicle was particular to the extent that a color, make, and model was identified but the vehicle that Officer Solberg stopped lacked any damage from the described collision. The size of the area in which the offender might be found was not well-established other than Officer Solberg answering "yes" when asked "based on the timing of the call from dispatch and your observations, would it be consistent that a vehicle could get from the address [of the altercation] to make that turn [from North University] in the right amount of time?" (R. 61:13-14; A-App. []). Officer Solberg testified that there was very little traffic and knew the probable direction of travel based on the 911 call. However, the factors which deal with more particularized and individual considerations weigh against a finding that there was reasonable suspicion: There was no observed activity of Ms. Reichert that would lend itself to identifying her as the individual involved in the domestic dispute, and there was no knowledge or suspicion that Ms. Reichert and her purple Honda Pilot had been involved in other criminality of the type under investigation.

The reasonableness of the stop is also based on the available investigative steps that could have ascertained whether the vehicle in question was the same vehicle involved in the altercation. *Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d at 677. In this case, Officer Solberg could have obtained

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 16 of 24

information from dispatch that was provided by the 911 caller as to the identity of the woman involved in the altercation, could have compared that name to the license plate, could have driven closer to the vehicle to determine if the driver was a woman or if children were present in the vehicle, and to determine whether there was damage from a collision. Each of these courses of action would have provided a more solid foundation for Officer Solberg to initiate a traffic stop, as the articulable and personalized information gained in the process would have been enough to establish reasonable suspicion. Instead, Officer Solberg saw a dark-colored Honda Pilot that was located within the possible area that the individual involved in the altercation could have been traveling in and decided that this was enough to initiate a stop. There was not reasonable suspicion that the vehicle was the same vehicle involved in the altercation at the time of the stop, and as such probable cause and reasonable suspicion were lacking.

#### B. The community caretaker exception does not apply where, as here, the seizure was partially motivated by investigation into possible criminal behavior.

One of the narrow exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement is the community caretaker exception, which allows police to perform a seizure without probable cause or reasonable suspicion when acting in their "community caretaker" role. The community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement accounts for the multifaced nature of police work – "first aid provider, social worker, crisis intervener, family counselor, youth mentor and peacemaker, to name a few." *State v. Asboth*, 2017 WI 76, ¶ 15, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W. 2d 541. When functioning as a community caretaker, a seizure is permissible "to protect persons and property" so long as it is "totally

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2024 Page 17 of 24

divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." Brooks, 2020 WI 60 at ¶ 13.

When the State claims law enforcement's community caretaker role justifies a seizure, as it does here, we evaluate the following three criteria: (1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised. Absoth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 13 (citation omitted). Because there is a presumption against warrantless seizures, the State bears the burden of proving the community caretaker doctrine justified seizure of the vehicle Ms. Reichert was driving. State v. Payano-Roman, 2006 WI 47, ¶ 30, 290 Wis. 2d 380, 714 N.W. 2d 548. In this case, Ms. Reichert was seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. However, Officer Solberg was not exercising a bona fide community caretaker function.

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