Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent File

Filed 04-12-2024 Page 1 of 25

FILED
04-12-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017CT1573

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROXANNE RAE REICHERT

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY THE HONORABLE JENNIFER DOROW PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ABBEY L. NICKOLIE Deputy District Attorney

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Waukesha County District Attorney's Office 515 W Moreland Blvd # G72 Waukesha, Wisconsin 53188-2428

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

ARGUMENT

I. Officer Solberg conducted a lawful traffic stop of Ms. Reichert's vehicle.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect individuals against unreasonable searches and seizures.

When conducting investigatory stops, *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968) established the standard of reasonable suspicion as justification. This reasoning was later extended by the U.S. Supreme Court to include traffic stops. *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420 (1984). In *Berkemer*, the Court stated that a police officer, "who lacks probable cause but whose 'observations lead him to reasonably suspect' that a particular person has committed, or is committing, or is about to commit" a violation may conduct a traffic stop to "investigate the circumstances that provoke suspicion." *Id.* at 439.

Reasonable suspicion is defined in *Terry* as "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion" – a lower standard than probable cause. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21. But, it "must be based on more than an officer's 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 8, 733 N.W.2d 634, 637.

When determining reasonableness, a common sense test is used. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681, 684 (1996). Under this test, one considers what a "reasonable police officer [would] reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *Id.* Whether a stop is reasonable is determined based on the "totality of the facts and circumstances." *Post*, 302 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 13. Additionally,

"officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d at 59. (citing *State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763, 766 (1990)).

A. Officer Solberg had reasonable suspicion to conduct the traffic stop based on the traffic violations committed by Ms. Reichert.

When there is "reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated," an officer is always justified in making a traffic stop. $State\ v.\ Houghton,\ 2015\ WI\ 79,\ \P\ 30,\ 364\ Wis.\ 2d\ 234,\ 250,\ 868\ N.W.2d\ 143,\ 151.$ Additionally, the subjective rationale possessed by the officer is irrelevant in analyzing the stop. $Whren\ v.\ United\ States,\ 517\ U.S.\ 806,\ 813,\ 116\ S.\ Ct.\ 1769,\ 1774,\ 135\ L.\ Ed.\ 2d\ 89\ (1996).$

As further explained by the Wisconsin Supreme Court:

As long as there was a proper legal basis to justify the intrusion, the officer's subjective motivation does not require suppression of the evidence or dismissal. The officer's subjective intent does not alone render a search or seizure of an automobile or its occupants illegal, as long as there were objective facts that would have supported a correct legal theory to be applied and as long as there existed articulable facts fitting the traffic law violation.

State v. Baudhuin, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 651, 416 N.W.2d 60, 63 (1987). At the motion hearings before the circuit court, an exhibit of the squad camera footage from Officer Solberg was offered and accepted as evidence, hereinafter referred to as "Exhibit 1" (R. 41). In this case, Exhibit 1 depicts significant weaving within the lane starting at the media player timestamp of 06:20. (R. 41: 06:20). Additionally Exhibit 1 depicts two traffic law violations which provide an objective basis for a traffic stop. (R. 41). The first occurs at media player timestamp 6:41 when the defendant's vehicle crosses the center yellow line as she enters the turn lane in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.13(3). (*Id.* at 6:41). The second occurs at

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 14 of 25

media player timestamp 6:48 when the traffic signal turns yellow and the defendant fails to stop before entering the intersection when she was a sufficient distance from it to conduct a stop safely, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.37(1)(b). (*Id.* at 6:48)

During the November 30, 2022, motion hearing in the circuit court, Officer Solberg testified that he did not remember if he saw these traffic violations or not. (R. 61:34). Officer Solberg also testified that his main reason for conducting the traffic stop was, "first and foremost to check the well-being of the individuals involved in the call." (*Id.* at 9). However, this subjective intent of Officer Solberg does not negate these traffic violations which provide an objectively reasonable basis for conducting a traffic stop of Ms. Reichert. Therefore, Officer Solberg had reasonable suspicion based on these traffic violations to conduct the traffic stop of Ms. Reichert.

B. Officer Solberg was justified in stopping Ms. Reichert in order to maintain the status quo and obtain more information on the 911 call.

Should the court find that no traffic violations occurred, or that they did not give rise to reasonable suspicion, Respondent believes that Officer Solberg nonetheless conducted a lawful stop of Ms. Reichert. Law enforcement officers are not required to allow evidence or witnesses to be lost when potential criminal activity has occurred, generally. The Supreme Court of the United States has outlined that brief stops are allowable to not only determine a suspicious individual's identity, but can also be reasonable when used to maintain the status quo momentarily while obtaining more information. *Adams*, 407 U.S. at 145–46.

Appellant asserts that Officer Solberg's belief that he was stopping the correct vehicle was "little more than a savvy hunch." (Appellant Brief page 11). However, this is not the case. Officer Solberg was able to articulate his reasons for

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 15 of 25

conducting the stop through his testimony at the November 30, 2022 motion hearing. (R. 61).

As previously laid out, Officer Solberg testified that he had around six years of experience with the City of Waukesha Police Department, that he is familiar with the City of Waukesha, and that he had patrolled this area before (R. 61:6,13). Officer Solberg received an emergency call about a domestic disturbance around 8:25 p.m. on November 26, 2021. (*Id.* at 8). Officer Solberg testified that he knew the female was in a purple Honda Pilot and that he was attempting to locate that vehicle as the incident could have resulted in injury, there was some type of threat of a gun involved, and there was a possible crash that had occurred with at least one child in the vehicle. (*Id.* at 9).

Officer Solberg testified that he began responding to the call right away as it was coming out through dispatch (*Id.* at 12). He was informed that the female was driving southbound on North University and when he approached the intersection of North University and Northview, he saw what appeared to be a dark colored SUV driving in the direction consistent with the information he received. (*Id.* at 11). Officer Solberg testified that he suspected that this may have been the vehicle in question as it was a dark colored SUV in the correct vicinity at the approximate timeframe that you would expect the vehicle to be there. (*Id.* at 13).

Additionally, Officer Solberg testified that after he began to follow the vehicle, he was able to confirm that it was the correct color, make, and model of vehicle he was looking for, a purple Honda Pilot. (*Id.*). He described there being very little to almost no traffic and did not remember seeing any other dark SUVs at this point in time. (*Id.*). Officer Solberg testified that he ran the plate of the vehicle prior to stopping it but he did not know who the registered owner of the vehicle was and could not tell who was driving (*Id.* at 35). He further testified he stopped the vehicle because his main concern was the well-

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 16 of 25

being of the individuals inside the vehicle but he also conducted the stop to investigate the domestic incident and potential hit and run (*Id.* at 16, 34).

This is not "little more than a savvy hunch." Additionally, "the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness." *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 381 (2014). "To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them 'fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community's protection." *Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. 54, 60–61 (2014) (quoting *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 176 (1949)).

Based on the information that was available to Officer Solberg, it was reasonable for him to suspect that this was the vehicle he was looking for. This is more than a savvy hunch and this stop was justified in order to maintain the status quo and obtain more information in line with what Officer Solberg testified he had a duty to investigate. (R. 61:25-27).

C. The community caretaker exception provides yet another justification for the stop of Ms. Reichert and it is appropriately applied in this case.

Officer Solberg's stop could also be justified under the community caretaker function in this case which provides an exception to the Fourth Amendment requirement that all seizures be made on probable cause or reasonable suspicion. State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 19-21, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 425–28, 759 N.W.2d 598, 604–06. In regard to this doctrine, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted a three-component test used for evaluating potential community caretaker function. State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 42, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 167–68, 864 N.W.2d 26, 39. When the State asserts a community caretaker function as the basis for a seizure, the circuit court must determine: "(1) that a seizure within the meaning of the [F]ourth [A]mendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was [a] bona

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 17 of 25

fide community caretaker [function]; and (3) if so, whether the public ... interest outweigh[s] the intrusion [on] the privacy of the individual." Id., ¶ 42.(quoting $State\ v.$ Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct.App.1987)). The burden is on the State to prove that the officer's conduct fell within the scope of a reasonable community caretaker function." Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 17.

1. Seizure and bona fide community caretaker function

Looking at the first component of the test, there is no dispute that a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment occurred here. Therefore, the next question is whether Officer Solberg was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function. Appellant misapplies the law with regard to this component of the test by stating that Officer Solberg's interests in investigating the domestic incident and possible hit and run completely negate any bona fide exercise of the community caretaker function. (Appellant Brief page 12-14).

The language cited by Appellant originates from *Cady* v. *Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973):

Local police officers, unlike federal officers, frequently investigate vehicle accidents in which there is no claim of criminal liability and engage in what, for want of a better term, may be described as community caretaking functions, *totally divorced* from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute.

(emphasis added). However, this language has since been analyzed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court and the court has "rejected the contention that community caretaker functions must be totally independent from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the commission of a crime." *Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 44; see also *Kramer*,

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 18 of 25

315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30 (finding that "the 'totally divorced' language from Cady does not mean that if the police officer has any subjective law enforcement concerns, he cannot be engaging in a valid community caretaker function.").

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated that interpreting "totally divorced" to mean "that an officer could not engage in a community caretaker function if he or she had any law enforcement concerns would, for practical purposes, preclude police officers from engaging in any community caretaker functions at all." *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 34. The court found that such a result would be neither "sensible nor desirable." *Id*.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that officers "may base their actions simultaneously on law enforcement and community caretaker functions." *Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 47. Whether there is a bona fide community caretaker function is evaluated by examining the totality of the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct. *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30. Thus, the community caretaker exception can be upheld when there is an objectively reasonable basis for that function based on the totality of the circumstances, despite subjective law enforcement concerns the officer might have had. *Id*.

Looking at the totality of the circumstances here, Officer Solberg had been dispatched in emergency fashion for the report of a domestic disturbance between a man in a silver Malibu and a woman in a purple Honda Pilot. (R. 61:8). Dispatch also reported the vehicles had possibly crashed and there was at least one child in the Honda Pilot. (*Id.* at 9). When Officer Solberg observed a purple Honda Pilot in the area, Officer Solberg conducted a traffic stop. (*Id.* at 15-16).

The first conversation with the Ms. Reichert is whether she was okay, and whether anyone needed an ambulance which demonstrates that Officer Solberg was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function. (R. 61:18). However, again, despite having an insight into the subjective intention of Officer Solberg, the objective totality of the circumstances must provide a reasonable basis for this function as well. Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30. Given the information known at the time of the stop, the circumstances would lead any officer to conclude that the stop was necessary to check the wellbeing of the passengers, and that is exactly what Officer Solberg did. Anything less, and the officer would have been derelict in his duties.

Additionally, Officer Solberg's testimony that he was partially motivated to stop the vehicle to investigate the domestic and potential hit and run does not negate the fact that Officer Solberg was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function.

2. Reasonableness balance

Finally, it must be determined whether Officer Solberg's exercise of a bona fide community caretaker function was reasonable. This component is considered by "balancing a public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree of and nature of the restriction upon the liberty interest of the citizen." Id., ¶ 40.

In doing so, the court has cited four relevant factors to determine whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion on privacy:

(1) the degree of public interest and exigency of the situation, (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed, (3) whether an automobile is involved, and (4) the availability, feasibility, and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id., ¶ 41 (citing $In\ re\ Kelsey\ C.R.$, 2001 WI 54, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777).

Case 2023AP001224 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 20 of 25

Looking first at the degree of public interest and exigency of the situation, "an individual's physical and mental health status is an issue of public interest and presents an exigency when an officer reasonably determines that physical or mental health could be in jeopardy." *Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 49. Here, the wellbeing of the individuals in the vehicle was the motivating factor of Officer Solberg in conducting the stop. (R. 61:9). Officer Solberg's concerns for the individuals wellbeing were reasonable based on the information that he had at the time. Therefore, an exigency was present and this factor favors the conclusion that Officer Solberg reasonably performed his community caretaker function.

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